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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF INDIANA
INDIANAPOLIS DIVISION

FAIR HOUSING CENTER OF
CENTRAL INDIANA, INC.; VIRGINIA
MORTON; SHARNA MCFARLAND;
and LINDSAY ADAMS,

Case No. 1:16-cv-00300-SEB-DML
Plaintiffs,

V.

GRANDVILLE COOPERATIVE, INC;
KAREN MITCHELL; and
KIRKPATRICK MANAGEMENT CO.

—— — — — — — — — — — — — — — — “— e’

INC,,
Defendants.
SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT
I. Introduction
1. Sharna McFarland and her mother, Virginia Morton, applied to rent

at Grandville Cooperative. Morton is quadriplegic. Defendants, Grandville’s
owner and operators, rejected plaintiffs’ application because, in their own words,
the dwelling “is not handicap accessible and it will be a liability to offer you a
unit that is not accommodating to everyone in the household.” McFarland and
her mother turned to the Fair Housing Center of Central Indiana for assistance.

2. Based on McFarland and Morton’s complaint, the Fair Housing
Center investigated, speaking with dozens of residents. Those residents reported

that, for years, Grandville has imposed unreasonable restrictions on children’s
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use of Grandville’s common areas. Every year, around when school lets out,
Grandville distributes notices reminding residents that “children under age 10
are not to be outside on the grounds at any time without a supervisor,” that “no
children should be in the common areas after 9:00 p.m.,” that “Children are not
allowed to play in front of their units,” and that “we do not allow for children to
play in the front of the buildings in the grass.” Lindsay Adams is a Grandville
resident who took these rules to heart, keeping her two young children inside.

3. Now, the Fair Housing Center, McFarland, Morton, and Adams bring
this case to vindicate their rights and to end defendants’ discrimination against
persons with disabilities and families with children.

II. Jurisdiction & Venue

4. The Court has jurisdiction over plaintiffs’ federal claims under 28
U.S.C. § 1331. Additionally, the Court has supplemental jurisdiction over
plaintiffs’ state law claims under 28 U.S.C. § 1367 because those claims are
related to plaintiffs’ federal claims and arise out of a common nucleus of related
facts.

5. Venue is proper in the Southern District of Indiana under 28 U.S.C.
§ 1391 because the events giving rise to these claims occurred in Marion County,
Indiana, and defendants conduct business in this district.

III. Parties

6. Plaintiff Fair Housing Center of Central Indiana Inc. is a private,

non-profit corporation organized under the laws of the state of Indiana. The Fair

Housing Center’s purpose is to ensure equal housing opportunities by
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eliminating housing discrimination through advocacy, enforcement, education,
and outreach.

7. Plaintiff Virginia Morton is quadriplegic, making her a person with a
disability within the meaning of the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3602(h), and
the Indiana Fair Housing Act, Ind. Code § 22-9.5-1-1 et seq.

8. Plaintiff Sharna McFarland is Morton’s daughter who intended to
reside in the dwelling with Morton, making her a person associated with the
buyer or renter of a dwelling under the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3602(f)(1),
and the Indiana Fair Housing Act, Ind. Code § 22-9.5-1-1 et seq.

9. Plaintiff Lindsay Adams is a resident of Grandville Cooperative. She
is the mother of four children, ages 14, 12, 5, and 3.

10. Defendant Grandville Cooperative Inc. is a private, non-profit
corporation organized under the laws of the state of Indiana.

11. The Grandville Cooperative housing complex is a dwelling within the
meaning of the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3602(b), and the Indiana Fair
Housing Act, Ind. Code § 22-9.5-2-8.

12. Defendant Karen Mitchell is the president of Grandville’s Board of
Directors.

13. Defendant Kirkpatrick Management Co. Inc. is a for-profit
corporation organized under the laws of the state of Indiana.

14. Kirkpatrick is a property management firm.

15. Each defendant was, at all times relevant, the agent, employee or

representative of each other defendant. Each defendant, in doing the acts or in
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omitting to act as alleged in this complaint, was acting within the course and
scope of his or her actual or apparent authority pursuant to such agency, or the
alleged acts or omissions of each defendant as agent were subsequently ratified
and adopted by each defendant as principal.
IV. Facts
A. Grandyville

16. Grandville is a 156-unit housing complex located in Indianapolis,
Indiana.

17. Grandville was developed and operates with federal housing funding
and financing. Grandville was constructed and developed utilizing the United
States Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) Section 236
mortgage program under the National Housing Act (12 U.S.C. § 1715 z-]).
Additionally, Grandville has a Section 8 Project-Based Rental Assistance (PBRA)
contract, under Section 524 of the Multifamily Assisted Housing Reform and
Affordability Act of 1997, 42 § U.S.C. 1437f, and utilizes the PBRA federal
housing program to make rent affordable to lower income tenants. Eligible
tenants must pay the highest of 30 percent of adjusted income, 10 percent of
gross income, or the portion of welfare assistance designated for housing or the
minimum rent established by HUD.

18. Grandville is a cooperative corporation property. Each member of
the cooperative owns one share and has one vote in the cooperative. The
cooperative corporation holds title to the property and is responsible for the

mortgage, if any.
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19. The Grandville Board of Directors is supposed to be elected by the
members of the cooperative. The directors set policy, establish rules and
determine how money is spent.

20. To become a resident of Grandyville, a prospective resident must meet
standards established by the Grandville Board of Directors.

B. Kirkpatrick

21. Kirkpatrick manages dwellings throughout the Midwest. It is one of
the largest, if not the largest, property management company in Indianapolis,
managing more than 10,000 dwellings. It identifies itself as an expert in the field
of cooperative housing management.

22. Kirkpatrick provides services to Grandville’s board and residents. It
is identified as the property manager on Grandville’s promotional materials. It
has provided onsite staff to direct the management and operation of Grandville.

23. Among its management functions, Kirkpatrick is responsible for
guiding Grandville’s board and staff in compliance with fair housing laws,
financial management, and reporting.

24. It also provides direction and guidance, including the creation of
forms used by Grandville, for screening and selecting prospective residents.
Kirkpatrick’s name appears prominently on Grandville’s application as the
cooperative’s manager. Its name and contact information appear on public
websites as the point of contact for prospective residents interested in Grandville.

25. Kirkpatrick has been named as a respondent in at least two prior

fair housing complaints, filed with the Indiana Civil Rights Commission,
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including at least one case alleging housing discrimination on the basis of
disability.
C. Virginia Morton and Sharna McFarland

26. Virginia Morton is quadriplegic.

27. Virginia Morton relies on her adult daughter, Sharna McFarland,
and a part-time at-home nurse for assistance with daily activities. Morton spends
most days at home in a hospital bed because of her disability.

28. In December 2014, McFarland visited the Grandville front office and
expressed interest in leasing a dwelling there.

29. Specifically, McFarland was interested in a two-story townhouse,
with three bedrooms upstairs and the living space downstairs, including a half
bathroom, kitchen, dining room, and living room. McFarland and her two
children planned to use the upstairs bedrooms while Morton, who utilizes a
hospital bed due to her paralysis, would use the downstairs living room.

30. During her December 2014 visit to the Grandville front office,
McFarland was informed of a waitlist and the requirement to complete an
application and submit a $20.00 money order to reserve a space on the waitlist.
McFarland completed her application and submitted the money order.

31. In March 2015, McFarland received a letter from Grandville asking
if she was still interested in leasing the dwelling. McFarland responded that she
was.

32. In July 2015, McFarland again visited the Grandville front office.

She inquired about the need for Morton to complete a separate application.
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Grandville management staff Camille Mitchell (who is the daughter of board
president and defendant Karen Mitchell) told McFarland that Morton could be
on the lease but she would need to complete a separate application and also
submit a $20.00 money order. McFarland completed the application on Morton’s
behalf and submitted the money order.

33. A few weeks later, McFarland received a letter from Grandville dated
July 27, 2015, stating: “This Letter is to notify you that Grandville Cooperatives’
Board of Directors has scheduled a mandatory New Member Orientation, time
listed below.” The New Member Orientation was scheduled for 11:30 a.m. on
August 5, 2015. The letter was signed by “C. Mitchell.”

34. The signature block identifies “C. Mitchell” as “Management Staff ...
Grandville Cooperative Board of Directors.”

35. A true and correct copy of the July 27th letter is attached to the
complaint as Exhibit 1.

36. On August 5, 2015, McFarland attended the New Member
Orientation at Grandville.

37. Present at the meeting were McFarland and three Grandville Board
of Directors, including Karen Mitchell.

38. During that meeting, McFarland stated that Morton could not climb
stairs. McFarland was asked why and McFarland explained that Morton was a
quadriplegic. The Grandville Board of Directors then asked several questions
about Morton’s disability, including what happened; how did she get like that;

how long had she been like that; and who takes care of her.
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39. Following this discussion, McFarland stated that it was her
understanding that the August 5, 2015, meeting was her New Member
Orientation. Karen Mitchell replied that it was not a New Member Orientation
but was instead a “Pre-Interview” meeting. McFarland was then told that she
would receive a letter from Grandville after the Pre-Interview.

40. Shortly after the meeting, McFarland received a letter from
Grandville dated August 5, 2015 — the same day as the New Member Orientation-
turned-Pre-Interview — entitled “Deny Application.” That letter stated: “We are
sorry to let you know that we must reject your application. At this time,
Grandville Cooperative is not handicap accessible and it will be a liability to offer
you a unit that is not accommodating to everyone in the household.” The letter
was signed by Camille Mitchell. The signature identified Camille Mitchell as
“Office Staff, Property Manager / Agent for Owner.”

41. A true and correct copy of the August 5th letter is attached as
Exhibit 2.

D. The Fair Housing Center Investigates

42. The Fair Housing Center recognizes the importance of “home” and
envisions a country free of housing discrimination where every individual, group
and community enjoys equal housing opportunity in a bias-free and open
housing market. The Fair Housing Center envisions a country where integrated
neighborhoods are the norm, and private and public sectors guarantee civil
rights in an open and barrier-free community committed to healing the history

of discrimination in America.
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43. The Fair Housing Center offers programs to fight housing
discrimination and promote equal housing opportunity. Its education program
works to increase fair housing knowledge by conducting trainings, hosting
conferences, distributing publications, and other activities to educate the public
about fair housing laws. The advocacy program assists persons who feel they
may be victims of housing discrimination by helping them to understand their
rights and options under fair housing laws. Fair Housing Center conducts fair
housing investigations under this program, both client-based and systemic, to
determine if unlawful discrimination may be occurring. Finally, the community
outreach program assists persons, neighborhoods, and communities who have
been impacted by unlawful discrimination, disinvestment, or due to unequal
housing opportunity.

44. On August 25, 2015, McFarland called the Fair Housing Center to
discuss the Grandville situation and to inquire about her and Morton’s fair
housing rights. Based on the information received, the Fair Housing Center
counseled McFarland about her fair housing rights.

45. On September 9, 2015, the Fair Housing Center sent Grandville a
letter indicating that it would be investigating allegations received about
discriminatory housing practices at Grandville.

46. That same day, the Fair Housing Center also sent all current
Grandville residents a letter providing them with educational materials about
their fair housing rights and advising them of the Fair Housing Center’s

investigation.
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47. The Fair Housing Center diverted resources and staff time to
counteract the effects of defendants’ discriminatory housing practices. Its staff
reached out to Grandville residents about their fair housing rights and
distributed literature to educate them about those rights. Its mission was
frustrated by the discrimination uncovered.

E. Reports of Familial Status Discrimination

48. During its investigation, the Fair Housing Center spoke with over
two dozen residents. Of those, more than 20 reported some kind of
discrimination by Grandville and Kirkpatrick against families with children.

49. A few complaints kept coming up again and again in the Fair
Housing Center’s interviews:

a. Fourteen residents reported that children are not allowed to play out
in front of the residences.

b. Fourteen residents reported that children are not allowed to play on
the grass.

c. Six residents reported that Karen Mitchell would yell and even swear

at children she saw breaking these rules.

SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT - 10



Case 1:16-cv-00300-LIJM-DML Document 36 Filed 05/11/16 Page 11 of 21 PagelD #: 261

d. Three residents reported that the one area children were allowed to
play in—a narrow band between the backs of the residences—was
at a low grade, without drainage, and would often flood, making it

useless for the children. That area looks like this:

e. And, finally, five residents reported that the rules aren’t enforced

against the children and friends of the Mitchell family.
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50. The Fair Housing Center was also able to collect from a resident
years’ worth of written notices containing Grandville’s written rules about
children. True and correct copies of some of these rules are attached as exhibits
3 through 8.

51. Exhibit 6 is a “Grandville News” newsletter dated May 2014. It
provides that “Children are not allowed to play in front of their units.”

52. Exhibit 7 is an undated “Summer Rules & Regulations” notice. The
first line is “Parents, children are your responsibility and should be supervised.
No children should be in the common areas after 9:00 p.m.”

53. Exhibit 8 is a notice dated May, 27, 2015, from Grandville to its
“Members.” The first line is “This letter serves as a reminder to all of the
households at Grandville Cooperative that children under the age of 10 are not
to be outside on the grounds at any time without supervision.” It continues with
a threat: “If we witness your child or children unsupervised you will be sent a
letter. If the behavior continues, your household may be put on a final warning
before eviction.”

F. Lindsay Adams

54. One of the Grandville residents who reported familial status
discrimination to the Fair Housing Center was Lindsay Adams. Adams lives at
Grandville with her young children. Adams and her children moved to Grandyville
in November 2013.

55. That first summer, and every summer since, Adams recalls receiving

notices from Grandville that contain rules restricting children’s use of common
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areas. Those rules include that children cannot play in the large grass-covered
areas in front of the residences; that children cannot play outside unsupervised
at all; and that children must come inside early in the evening.

56. To Adams, the rules are unreasonable. The large, grass-covered area
in front of her unit is an ideal place for her children to play. It is far from the
street and traffic and directly in front of a large window through which Adams
can watch her children while working inside the home.

57. That grass-covered area looks like this:

N

Ce—
—————

—_—
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58. On at least one occasion in the past two years, Karen Mitchell has
personally enforced these rules against Adams. Adams was outside her residence
watching one of her children ride her bike. Karen Mitchell drove-up in front of
Adams’ residence and told Adams that she’d have to walk directly alongside of
her child. In other words: Under Grandville’s “supervision” rule, watching from
a distance was not good enough.

59. Adams has repeatedly had notices sent to her informing her that
she or her children have violated Grandville’s rules about children. Because
these notices threaten Adams with eviction, she no longer lets her children play
outside.

G. Plaintiffs’ Injuries

60. Morton & McFarland. By reason of Defendants’ unlawful acts or
practices, Morton and McFarland have suffered economic loss; loss of time and
effort; emotional distress, including humiliation, mental anguish, loss of dignity,
and embarrassment; and otherwise sustained injury. Defendants deprived
Morton and McFarland of an important housing opportunity, denying them the
use and enjoyment of a dwelling for themselves and their family. Accordingly,
Morton and McFarland are entitled to compensatory damages.

61. The Fair Housing Center. Defendants’ discriminatory and
negligent actions have caused, and are continuing to cause, harm to plaintiff
Fair Housing Center by frustrating its mission to ensure equal housing
opportunities by eliminating housing discrimination. Defendants’ actions have

interfered with all the efforts and programs of the Fair Housing Center by forcing
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the Fair Housing Center to divert its scarce resources from those programs and
into identifying and counteracting defendants’ unlawful practices. Defendants’
unlawful practices have caused the Fair Housing Center to suffer economic
losses in staff pay, in funds expended investigating, and in the inability to
prevent other unlawful housing practices. Defendants’ actions have set back the
Fair Housing Center's vision of a country free of housing discrimination where
every individual, group and community enjoys equal housing opportunity and
access in a bias-free and open housing market, by impeding their efforts to
educate the public about discriminatory housing practices and to provide
counseling and referral services to the public about housing discrimination.
Accordingly, plaintiff Fair Housing Center is entitled to compensatory damages.

62. Lindsay Adams. By reason of Grandville, Kirkpatrick, and Karen
Mitchell’s discriminatory acts or practices, Adams has suffered economic loss;
loss of time and effort; emotional distress, including humiliation, mental
anguish, loss of dignity, and embarrassment; and otherwise sustained injury.
Defendants deprived Adams and her children of the use of the common areas
associated with her residence, which are an important feature of her housing.
Accordingly, Adams is entitled to compensatory damages.

63. In doing the acts of which each plaintiff complains, defendants acted
with oppression or reckless disregard of the rights of each plaintiff. Accordingly,

each plaintiff is entitled to punitive damages.
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64. There now exists an actual controversy between defendants and
plaintiffs regarding defendants’ duties under the federal and state fair housing
laws. Accordingly, each plaintiff is entitled to declaratory relief.

65. Unless enjoined, defendants will continue to engage in the unlawful
acts and the pattern or practice of discrimination described in this complaint.
Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law. They now suffer and will continue to
suffer irreparable injury from defendants’ discriminatory acts against persons
with disabilities unless relief is provided by this Court. Accordingly, plaintiffs are
entitled to injunctive relief.

V. CLAIMS
A. First Claim
[Fair Housing Act]
All Plaintiffs v. All Defendants

66. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference each paragraph
previously alleged in this complaint.

67. Defendants injured plaintiffs by committing discriminatory housing

practices in violation of the federal Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3601, et seq.
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B. Second Claim
[Rehabilitation Act]
McFarland & Morton v. All Defendants

68. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference each paragraph
previously alleged in this complaint.

69. Defendants Grandville and Kirkpatrick injured plaintiffs by
discriminating against them in the operation of Grandville in violation of the
Rehabilitation Act, 29 U.S.C. § 794.

C. Third Claim
[Indiana Fair Housing Act]
All Plaintiffs v. All Defendants

70. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference each paragraph
previously alleged in this complaint.

71. Defendants injured plaintiffs by committing discriminatory housing
practices in violation of the Indiana Fair Housing Act, Ind. Code § 22-9.5.

D. Fourth Claim
[Negligence]
All Plaintiffs v. All Defendants

72. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference each paragraph
previously alleged in this complaint.

73. Defendants Grandville and Kirkpatrick injured plaintiffs Morton,
McFarland, and Adams by want of ordinary care or skill in their ownership or

management of their property and agents, including defendant Karen Mitchell
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and Camille Mitchell. This negligence includes their failure to train, monitor and
supervise both Mitchells and their failure to ensure their compliance with the
federal Fair Housing Act, the Rehabilitation Act, the Indiana Fair Housing Act,
and applicable regulations. Accordingly, plaintiffs Morton, McFarland, and
Adams are entitled to an award of damages against defendants Grandville and
Kirkpatrick under Ind. Code § 34-51.
VI. RELIEF

WHEREFORE, plaintiffs pray for entry of a judgment against defendants that:

1. Awards actual and compensatory damages under the Fair Housing
Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3613(c), the Rehabilitation Act, 29 U.S.C. § 794(a), the Indiana
Fair Housing Act, Ind. Code § 22-9.5, and for negligence;

2. Awards punitive damages under the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. §
3613(c), and the Rehabilitation Act, 29 U.S.C. § 794(a);

3. Declares that defendants have violated the Fair Housing Act, 42
U.S.C. § 3613(c), the Rehabilitation Act, 29 U.S.C. § 794(a), and the Indiana Fair
Housing Act, Ind. Code § 22-9.5;

4. Enjoins all unlawful practices complained about herein and imposes
affirmative injunctive relief requiring defendants, their contractors, agents,
employees, assignees, and all persons acting in concert or participating with
them, to take affirmative action to provide equal housing opportunities to all
tenants and prospective tenants without regard to disability as required by the
federal and state fair housing laws;

S. Awards costs of suit, including reasonable attorneys’ fees; and,
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0. Awards all such other relief as the Court deems just.

Dated: May 11, 2016.

Respectfully submitted,

s/ Thomas Kaves
Thomas Kayes (pro hac vice)
[linois Bar No. 6315461
BRANCART & BRANCART
77 West Washington Street, Suite 1313
Chicago, IL 60602
312 / 857-8665
Fax: 650/879-1103
tkayes@brancart.com

Christopher Brancart (pro hac vice)
California Bar No. 128475

BRANCART & BRANCART

P.O. Box 686

Pescadero, CA 94060

650/879-0141

Fax: 650/879-1103

cbrancart@brancart.com

Thomas E. Crishon

No. 28513-49
Melissa L. Keyes

No. 30152-49
INDIANA PROTECTION & ADVOCACY SERVICES
4701 N. Keystone Ave., Suite 222
Indianapolis, IN 46205
317/722-5555
Fax: 317/722-5564
tcrishon@ipas.IN.gov
mkeyes@ipas.IN.gov

Attorneys for the Plaintiffs
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INDEX OF EXHIBITS

Exh. 1 New Member Orientation Invitation (7/7/15)
Exh. 2 Rejection Letter (8/5/15)

Exh. 3 Grandpville Living Guidelines (2005)

Exh. 4 Spring Rules (Undated)

Exh. 5 Rules Letter (2/23/13)

Exh. 6 Grandville Newsletter (5/2014)

Exh. 7 Summer Rules and Regulations (Undated)
Exh. 8 Rules Letter (5/27/15)
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

On May 11, 2016, I served all parties by their attorneys’ of record by
filing with the Court’s CM/ECF system this [Proposed] Second Amended
Complaint. The CM/ECF system delivered the document by email to:

Thomas E. Crishon
Melissa L. Keyes
INDIANA PROTECTION AND ADVOCACY SERVICES
4701 N. Keystone Ave., Suite 222
Indianapolis, IN 46205
tcrishon@ipas.IN.gov
mkeyes@ipas.IN.gov

Christopher Brancart
BRANCART & BRANCART
P.O. Box 686
Pescadero, CA 94060
cbrancart@brancart.com

Thomas Kayes
BRANCART & BRANCART
77 West Washington Street, Suite 1313
Chicago, IL 60602
tkayes@brancart.com

Brian P. Nally
REMINGER CO., L.P.A.
101 West Prospect Avenue
Suite 1400
Cleveland, OH 44115
Tel: (216) 430-2106
Fax: (216) 687-1841
bnally@reminger.com

Lyndsay I. Ignasiak
REMINGER CO., L.P.A.
Three Parkwood
450 East 96th Street, Suite 150
Indianapolis, IN 46240
Tel: (317) 853-7372
Fax: (317) 663-8580
lisnasiak@reminger.com

/s/ Thomas Kaves
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